An Oral History interview with Harry Whitworth

Interviewed by Roger Kitchen on Tuesday 8th March 2005

Harry could we begin by – when were you born?

I were born in 1939.  I was actually born where I am now.  This was my granny’s farm.  The farmhouse is still standing.  It’s up the corner there, it were down 10 Blacksmith Lane and as a lad I were kinda brought up on the farm as such, but I lived with me mum and dad in Hartshorn Road, and of course the farm were that close I spent a lot of time there, helping out and got me uncles and me aunts whatever, so yeh, I’m in view of where I were born, which I think is rather nice.

And what about dad.  What job did dad have?

Me dad worked down the pit.  He worked down the pit at Granville Pit, regular afternoons, then, in the daytime, because me granddad, who went out on the round when me grandma got injured, me dad used to take milk out in morning with me grandma and they’d got the horse and cart, with those chains and buckets and whatever, and then they’d – he’d come home at – when he’d done that, have summat to eat and then Granville Pit, on afternoons.

And what was ‘afternoons’? How long was afternoons?

8 hours, 8 or 9 hours down pit.  He’d got a heavy job me dad had.  But, in them days you all helped each other out.  I mean, I used to go out in me later few years with horse and cart picking up peelings for the pigs.  You’d go out down round the estates and round Box (NB. local name for Woodville) and people kept peelings and stuff for you and then you’d go round with yer cart every fortnight and pick ‘em up with horse and cart and tek ‘em back to the farm and these… would feed pigs.

And how old were you when you were doling that?

Oh, about 8 or 9 or something like that.  That carried on for a few years.  Cos it were only 21 acres, the farm was, but on that 21 acres we got about 8 milking cows I think it wor, a couple of Shire horses, there were a pony for the milk float and me uncles took coal out – bagged coal me Uncle Tom took out, round the area, round Box, and then me uncle Jack took loads of coal out, like concessionary coal for the miners and he dropped it off outside your house…

And you paid them?

No, it was part of the Coal Board… You see in them days, if you worked at pit,  you got so much coal every year and me uncle Jack took the concessionary coal out to these miners – about every 8 week you got a ton of coal.  And that’s what me uncle Jack used to do – plus help out on the farm.  He used to do the milking, so there was always something to do.  Me grandma, some say, she used to milk up till she was 75 and used to kneel on the milkfloat going down to Hartshorn and round Box taking milk out.  She’d also got ‘Derbyshire Throat’ which was, how can I describe it?  Like a big bag under the chin.
A goitre…

It were enormous and, I’ll always remember, she used to sometimes cry with the pain of it.  She painted it with iodine fert get some relief out of it, ay but… she did that till she died really did me gran.  But she were the worker.  I mean, she were the workhorse of the family.

So when did she die?

Got to be thirty year ago, must be now.  But…characters were ….
That kind of neck, Derbyshire Neck thing, you called it ‘Derbyshire Throat’?

Derbyshire Throat, ah

It was caused by the water wasn’t it, the lack of iodine was it in the water?

No idea.  I know she had it from me earliest recollection.  She always had it but it got bigger like as she got older.  She was a very small person me grandma wor, but she kept the family going. She were the mainstay of the family.  Course, the rest of them, they always used to like the beer, they liked the gambling and … but the farm really come to its end when the milk started being done in bottles and in them days me grandma wouldna spend all the money for a bottling plant at farm, so she sold out to Northern Dairies.  So that’s when we stopped taking milk out. Obviously me dad then stopped doing that job and me uncle Jack and me uncle Tom carried on taking coal out for a few more years after that.
When she sold out to Northern Dairies, did that mean she sold the land then?

No, she sold the rounds.  No, the people who she went to.  They.. the land still stopped.  Eventually obviously it’s come to what it is now, like, it’s called - the Bird’s Estate they used to call it at one time, but Tollgate Green’s another name for it.  But this is me granny’s farm, this is – and me house… The farm were called Field House Woodville,  Field Farm Woodville, so I named me house Field House Woodville because it’s – it’s because I were more or less… I were born and raised here, more or less.
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Were your mum and dad living in a cottage that was part of the farm, or were they living in the farm…?
No, they were living – me grandma used to own quite a few houses in Box and she owned one what we come down Hartshorn Road here and then we moved a bit further up Hartshorn Road to number 16 and me dad bought it off me grandma for 150 quid.(laughs)  So that’s pittance now but it were just like a two bedroomed cottage on Hartshorn Road and I stopped there really until I got married in 1965.

So your gran was quite a wealthy woman then really, although she  - I mean, she didn’t sit back on her…?
Me grandma was but the rest of me uncles – well me uncles really they were big gamblers and drinkers.  So they played hard but they also got rid of the money and also – yeh – I never knew what the farm was finally sold for as regards money because it were originally sold for industrial building, they were going to build units on here, then suddenly it went to houses and what they got for it I haven’t a clue – I never heard owt on it.  I was away for a time with me and my missus so…
As you growing up, where were your playground areas as it were?
The playgrounds were probably the farm, course coming down to the farm , used to bring me mates down and kids down, used to play on the farm.  Course there used to be football, like a field called the Football Field they had back of here and then on Hartshorn  Road we used to play the normal games – Hide and Seek, Swinging, Throwing the stick, whip and top – that were in the street, and then we’d got the Rec up High St, there were a Rec at Monkey Island  which is  ??  Then, as you got older, then you’d got the Institute, where you could play snooker.  That were in Woodville.  That’s now, it’s the old Salt’s Brewery Building, it’s now Huggy Bear’s Play Barn or something but in them days there were 4 snooker tables, table tennis, darts, cards – you could get a drink and things like that.  There were  that, there were Dorothy Poynton’s dancing school in Box and all, where there was a school on Tuesday nights for 2 hours and it cost one and a tanner, and half way through you left, you went across road to chippy and then had your chips and peas, then come back and did a bit more dancing and – that went on for a number of years.  That’s now the New Inn Restaurant up at pub up there.  
There were that, then the chippies, the Recreation Ground.  In them days the rec were, it were kinda locked up and looked after.  Vandalism wasn’t around in them days so you went up there and then at 9 o’clock Mr. Starkey used to come round and lock everything up and you couldna go on it, you couldn’t ride your bike though it. If  you did they fined you a fiver…So .. there were bowling greens up there and there were putting and Joe Ralston used to look after, you wanted a game of bowls up there, or a game of tennis and you pay your money and you could go and play a game, and everythin’ were good.  
When people say now they got nowt fert do, we made kinda our fun and you did it safely  and, I don’t know, it were nice, it were enjoyable.  I think we, I think we saw the best of the years, after the war.  You hadna got to lock your door, you could walk the roads, there were no fear of anybody getting owt on yer, Ok there were little gangs, like I always remember we used to go chucking stick over what we called ‘sandholes’, that’s where them built them houses now, top of Swad Hill there.  In them days when I were young there were all sandholes there, up, going towards Wragg’s Tip.  Used to go up there chucking stick, but there are houses down Swad Road called  Roggin  Row, and there were a gang from Roggin Row used to wait for yer! (Laughs)  Of course, you watch out for them, you used to run back and…you know, there were never any problems, never anything done to you, it was just, it was just part of life wasn’t it?
What do you mean ‘throwing sticks?’
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What you used to do,… one of you used to throw a stick, then set off to find it and they used to go to fob (?)  Then you fobbed that till they kinda find you.  Now across at the sandhills there were that many place to fob it were unbelievable, you could play it all bloody day!  And not really bother about owt else.  But you could do it in safety.
And these sandholes, what were they?  Was it a quarry or something/

Well, I don’t know.  There are holes down there, sand holes and if you go further across there, towards Swad, you come to where Wraggs wor, the Wraggs Opening Hole, but this part were like kinda safe, it were, well, it were a bit of wild ground, unused and unkept but it were ideal for playing for kids. Ideal it were.

And when you were, you’re growing up, you go to school, what were the choices of job that you had, if you like, when you left school round here?

Unbelievable. Because me dad worked down pit and me cousin worked down pit and me uncles delivered coal,  I took route to Coal Board.  So in 1954 when I left school me dad arranged for me to see the Training Officer at Granville pit and I got a job at Granville pit and I started on Pit Bank, and that were really – everybody that went to pit had to do a stint on pit bank and there were various jobs from clipping tubs on fer going over, fer taking the tubs over the bridge to one of the shafts, ‘lockering up’ which I did, and that were tubs of coal come up the shaft, it come off the cage and went in to what we called an ‘upender’ where it used to turn the tub over, then the coal dropped down onto a conveyor belt to tek it to the screens where they used to check the coal and get rid of the rubbish or whatever and then the tub’d continue then round a ring and go back to the pit shaft and my job as a pit lad on the bank was lockerin’, lockerin’ the tubs as they come round empty, before they went down the pit again, down the shaft again to get some more coal.  Now I did that until I went to Donisthorpe to do me underground training.  You had to go and learn how to live down the pit safely.  You also had to learn how to handle a pony, cos in them days, when I first went down pit, ponies did a lot of the heavy work down the pit.  So you went to Donisthorpe for 16 weeks, did your underground training then you come back to your main pit, which for me was Granville Pit.
Sorry, could I just go back on this.  How long had you been at the pit bank before you went down there?

Just over 12 months.

So you were about 17 by then?

Yeh.  And then I come back and, I’m not sure if me dad suggested it – I took a trade up.  ‘Course in them days you’d got apprenticeships doing fitters and electricians underground work, so I decided to take a trade ands I did a 5 year apprenticeship with the Coal Board as an underground mechanic – fitter/mechanic.  And it were enjoyable – in fact Granville pit were enjoyable.  I think, I talk to people now who I see in, round the area: if Granville pit had stopped open we would have never left.  It were the most wonderful place to work at for – OK, you’re down a pit, you might think, ‘What a bloody place’, but it were brilliant down there.  You looked after each other. , never had any problems, they’d help you out, comradeship, look after each other.  It were absolutely brilliant.  And I think that that’s probably the best years of me life were down pit and most people I talk to said the same.  And I stopped there until 1967 when Granville pit shut down.  I coulda gone to  Rawdon pit, cos they transferred people from Granville to Rawdon, but I decided I didn’t want go Rawdon so I made me move then into the clay industry and I moved from the pit into clay and I went to the place called Ellistown Pipes which is down Moira Road which is still in Box.  And I started there in 1967 as a fitter and I was interviewed by a bloke named Bob Shepherd, I’ll always remember it, one Saturday morning.  And he said … I took me indentures in and me qualifications whatever and he said, ‘Alright, you’re ex Coal Board are you?’  I said, ‘Yes’.  He said, ‘I only employ Coal Board people at Ellistown Pipes’.  I said, ‘Why’s that then Mr Shepherd?’  He said, ‘Because they work in all the muck and grime goin’ and wouldna complain.’ 
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 He says, ‘You’ve got 6 weeks.  You either mek it here or you dunna’.  And I started there and I reckon it were eight and sixpence farthing an hour and after 6 weeks the foreman fitter told Bob Shepherd that I were OK and I think I went to nine and a halfpenny an hour, that were top rate.  And I started and I carried on there and gradually I improved on the outlook with the company:  I went to like a chargehand fitter, assistant works engineer and I stopped there until the part I used to run closed down, cos technology kept comin’ in and eventually they took my product to  the main Hepworth works at Sheffield, cos by then Ellsitown Pipes had been bought out by Hepworth.  And I was then moved down to Swadlincote to the Wragg site which was part of the Hepworth organisation, and as I say, Wraggs at Swad was a very very old works and I carried on there until I retired.  I had 35 good years with Hepworth and no regrets at all, but looking back on it, I mean, the pit experience were unbelievable.

I want to look at that in more detail…but tell me more about what the job of a fitter was then.  What did you actually do?

Right.  You go on in the morning, you go and change into your working clothes in the pit-head baths.  You’d go up to the Fitting Shop, which is on the top of the pit bank there, you’d talk to the gaffers and you’d kinda pick your lamp up at the Lamp House, and yer tally, and you went to the pit top, you handed your tally in, and that was a piece of material that you give to the bloke at the pit top.  Well once you handed that tally in that meant you were going down the pit.  So that was to know how many people were down there.  Then you went down the pit and you went to where you were working at.  You went into different districts and these districts were like coal faces, and I were a coal face fitter.  So…

To get to these places how far…..

…Once you’d got down pit then you had to walk a short distance to what we call a ‘man rider’ and that took you down a one in two and a half gradient into some lower seams of coal, lower workings.  Then you’d go on a second one then, a second man rider that took you another distance in.  You could be as far as 3 mile out.  Eventually you walked to the coal face where you were working and you were like a part of a team, I mean, there was always a fitter and electrician, and then the men on the coalface. ‘ Course, by then mechanisation had come in so there weren’t so much on the hand and knees with picks and shovels as you had a machine that actually cut the coal but there were a lot of mechanical moving parts on it and your job was to make sure it continued working.   If you had a breakdown then you had to kinda muck in and repair it and get it going again.  But you did – if you want any help the blokes’d help you and you’d help them kinda thing. 
So how many would be in that little team?

There could be as many as probably 20.

One fitter, one electrician…..
….And then all the rest would be pit blokes.  ‘Cos you had certain… You had what…. You had a bloke on the coalface who actually operated the machine that cut the coal, then you had people back side there that were mekking the roof safe – cos on a coal face you had like what we call ‘pit props’ and ‘pit chocks’.  Pit props support your roof and chocks supported really like a ram that was attached on to part of the coalface machinery that used to take the coal away up and down the face.  You had to kind of… as the machine cut the coal you had to shove these what they called ‘pans’ over, what the rams were fastened to and they like close the gap between what coal had  gone to where the solid coal was.  So them blokes did that.  So they were cocking and propping all the while on the face the blokes were and, as tradespeople, we used to have to like organise and help ‘em, help if they wanted it, or we’d got service that we used to have to extend the water pipes and things like that, and extend the hydraulic hoses and whatever to keep the face moving forward.  But you were part of a team, that’s the thing about it, you worked together.
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And, you know, these teams of about 20, how many teams would be down on a shift together, you know, obviously working in different  bits of the face?

Well, there’d be that 20 who’d been working at like probably the same time as the face was cutting the coal but on what we called the ‘back shifts’ there was another team of men in and they were called ‘rippers’ and they used to advance the main roads with arches, like steel arches, so as your face advanced taking your coal, your, what you called your roads that led to your face had to be extended as well, so they used to have to get all the stone out above it, what they called ‘rip’ it out, then put these rings up to support the roof, so you … and then some of them faces went out a mile, so you could be a mile out with your face before you actually hit something. And normally when a face stopped it hit some bad ground, or you might come to suddenly lose your coal – the strata had kinda dropped away so the coal seam had disappeared and you finished off with just stone. Course you never knew – although they used to do surveys to find out how the seams were, coal seams were, sometimes you’d lose your seam altogether and you’d come to a white wall so you know…..
A white wall?  Limestone you mean?

No, just stone.  Years ago, years ago when you had seams of coal goin’ at like different levels, sometimes it used to drop away and you finish off with – the coal might be 20 feet down there, it had disappeared, ‘cos the kinda strata had dropped down, like you get these houses where the, what they call ‘subsidence’ kinda thing.  So you suddenly lose it and…
And normally, how thick is a seam?

Well, I worked in what we called ‘Little Kilburn’ and Little Kilburn were 2 foot 7.  And the face were 350 yards long,  so you worked – when you went down the face you were on your hands and knees, obviously,  so you wear knee pads all the while to protect your knees when you’re crawling and your tolls you carried in like an, it were like a rubber made tool box, well tool bag and when you went down face you fastened that to your ankle, so you kinda crawled and dragged. Course if the machine broke down, further down face, see, you gotta get down there quick, so that’s how you did it, you pulled and ….
But that was unusual was it, as thin as that?

Well, I were down there for about, what, four or five years in them seams, cos they were about, there were various seams in this, what we called ‘Little Kilburn’ and the seam is the depth of it, the coal, and then suddenly we stopped taking Little Kilburn and went into what we called ‘Main Coal’ and Main Coal were 10 foot thick, so I went from something on your hands and knees to summat that were fairly high.  Obviously then the machine then was bigger, the supports were bigger, but I always think the risks were greater.  The only time I ever, I were ever frit down pit and that were goin’ back to Little Kilburn time,.. when you first start a new seam of coal off, takin’ this coal out with machine – for certain period of time, as you advance back side you, the roof doesn’t drop immediately and you just hang back: you might go two or three weeks then advancing yor face, but the roof backside never dropped.  And the only time I were frightened was on one of the faces at Granville, Little Kilburn.  We were at hand face one morning, one day and the roof started easing back side of us and it shoved these bloody props and things into the ground and I finished off where it had just stopped above me head and suddenly all the stone backside dropped down, so the weight had come off the face.  But that were frightening because I couldna get off face.  I lay there and wait for it to happen, and the way it happened, the bloody dust and whatever come right across yer and then, you know, you’re OK then, you’re safe.  But that’s  the only time I… I wor a bit..
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So when you go into it, they make this kind of archway, and it’s actually – there’s a gap there then between the actual rock and  - what was dropping then?

The stone above you were dropping. …I’m misleading you a bit really… Coalface face were 350 yards long.  It’s like a strip, 350 yards long.  You’re taking that depth, 2 foot 7, all the way across.  Then, what you’n got then is really like three, what we call ‘gates’ that go on to the face – cos obviously you’ve got to circulate your air round so you have (it’s a bit involved this is!) you have a main and takeaway like – you went down the main gate and that took your air down, through where you’re working then it came out at t’other end and it went out on the return so basically that’s how the air got round.  But when you’re taking a strip of coal out, when you move for’ad you got all what were left ‘anging, there were nothing there at all, that’s when it dropped down and that’s when you had all this weight on to the working area where you were doin’,  you see.
Cos there must be other things… I’d heard like there’s a gas you can sometimes hit and…

What happens is that you – if you get like a swillage (?) like in the roadway or whatever and some seams you can get methane that comes off and it does hang… If I remember rightly methane – does it hang at the top or the bottom?  I’m not sure now.  But methane gas were a killer and that’s why, up there you can see those miners’ lamps can’t you?  And the old miners used to take ‘em down and there’d be a flame inside that lamp, and if that flame altered, if it went out a different shape, they could actually see how much methane was in the area.  And of course, to get rid of the methane you’d got ventilation.  See, you’d got to ventilate quick.  But it wor a killer.  But Granville Pit were – you had very little methane there as such.  The only thing they had at Granville Pit wor when we went into what we called ‘Main Coal’, that 10 foot seam, it were very combustible and sometimes the air just going by it’d ignite it.  And you gerra fire down pit but you hadna got to panic about it: we had teams of blokes used to come with what we called ‘pumps’, mono pumps and pipes and whatever and mixing tubs and they mixed like a plaster in this tub and they used to pump it into the – where the fire was – and it used to kinda seal it.  So, you know it were just everyday event that was. You just took it for granted, I’m afraid.
Again, to someone who’s never been down there, it sounds incredibly risky.

I think, you’re talking about how things used to be then.  I always remember at Granville, we took what we called some ‘gobbins’.  Now gobbins were coal that the miners left behind years ago cos it were smaller. When they took the big coal out, so they left the small stuff and we went into some gobbins in Granville and what you did were unbelievable because you might hit suddenly where they’d had a fire, and they’d like put some dorby and bricks on to stop it… you’re going back probably when it were first bloody got on its road; and then you’d hit the bones of a pit horse. You’d find scarves and paper in these workings, you could get ‘em out and have a look and the most comical one – we’re on there one day with the machine and the machine hits summat so we stoppedhe machine and the bloke’s dug it out – it were a tool box, a wooden tool box with metal hinges on it and inside the tool box there were shovels and picks and what were called ‘hand holing’ kit  for putting holes in for putting the charges in and outside that there were like a pit pit prop and there were a bottle of oil – and they’re all still intact.  And the oil  was used for – when they put the drilling machine together- the hand driller- it were for like lubricating the different sections on it, and it were all intact. They dug it out and it went somewhere, it know it went to some bloody  Coal Board museum or summat.  But…
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So it was almost like your own archaeology because of what had gone on like ten, hundreds of years before maybe..?

And there again, in the gobbins we had probably our closest event at Granville because, with it being what the miners had got years ago,  the roof was very unstable and it were prone to the roof dropping in and caving in and although – they had to put in extra support to support the roof in them days, and there were a major fall and there were a Deputy – Fred Shelley and some pitmen got buried and they managed to keep them alive by scratting (?) the airways to them and they actually kept them alive…
By ‘scratting’?

Scratting the coal away and whatever to keep an airway to them and eventually they got ‘em out and I know two of the lads never went down pit again and I’m not sure whether Fred Shelley went down pit again, he were Deputy.  But they were very close, very close to getting killed actually.  And the only time that I can remember a bloke being killed is – on the face I were working at:  I were there on D Shift, as fitter like, and course that shift worked on afternoon shifts and all, and on the afternoon shift I were at Stoopley in bloody snooker (?), cos I’d done my stint on Ds and a bloke came in and said, ‘Up Harry, there’s a bloke got killed on your face this afternoon’.  I said, ‘Bloody Nora’.  Walt Tilley, he worked in what were called ‘Stable End’ of the face and he got crushed and what goes through your mind then is ‘What’s happened, is it something done properly?’  And it weren’t till I went next day to work, cos I did the –that face had been blocked off then while the Factory Inspector went down or whatever, but it were just one of those things that happen.  Nowt to do withy anybody, nobody were at fault as such.  These things just happen I suppose.  But it’s…it makes you think a bit doesn’t it?
You were saying that when you went  to… I’m going back again, I’m going to move on to the clay thing in a minute, when you said you went for that kind of training over in Donisthorpe in terms of what it was like underground and so on – and there were the pit ponies.  How long did they last for then?

God, that’s interesting now…1956…oh dear, there’s a book somewhere on this.  It’s got to be in the middle 60s I reckon when the last ponies come out of Granville pit.  

And they were used for hauling…?

What they used to do, they used to,  what we called ‘take supplies in’.  Now supplies was equipment what they used down the pit – they’d take the steel rings in, they’d take the supports in, the wooden supports in, the wooden bars in: they’d take materials in for fire stemming for this fire problem.  Then they used to bring out tubs of  stone or whatever from the, some of the lower workings, to got out the pit and , got out like lost, you know, like chucked away.  So the horses did a good job as regards that and I think when I first went down Granville pit, afore I went to do me trade I went pony driving for a bit.  There were about 14 hosses then  down… cos Granville had got 3  - there were 3 shafts at Granville, 3 pit shafts, Number 1 pit, Number 2 pit and Shonky (?)

Shonky?

Shonky, or a single shaft.  That were really to bring the air from round the pit back up again.  It were what what was called the Up Cast shaft.  So the other two shafts took the air down and the shonky brought the air up and Shonky were a single shaft, but it had got a cage in with two decks on it and that would take you about three and a half, four minutes to come up that one, it were ever so slow, and that brought it out.  
You were talking about looking after the ponies
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Oh yes.  When you were a pony lad you went down the pit, went to stables, picked your hoss up and then you kinda walk in towards where the man rider was, then once the man rider had gone down with the blokes on it you followed down with your hoss, so you had to walk all the way and then once you got down into the workings you put what we called the harness round him, cos you had to have – there was like a steel frame went round the horse and from that you could attach on the piece of bar that connected the horse to the actual wagon, and then, you know, your job was to do whatever what wanted doing – take stuff in or bring stuff out.  You know, the hoss had got no, ain’t got no lamp on him, so he relied totally on yourself.  But they’d got a way about them hosses the, down the pit and they know where they’re going.  It were quite good.  And you used to take an apple down for ‘em some days or you take summat.  And some of the hosses though down there were unbelievable.  There were one called – I think it were called Dime and I saw this and it were most comical.  Hosses can smell down there like bloody hell.  If you’d got an orange in your pocket – cos pit blokes used to hang their coats up on, down the pit, on the wood or whatever, on the steel bars or anywhere,  and if you’d got an apple or a bloody orange in the pocket the hoss’d know and he used to go up to them and get his teeth round it and  squeeze the bloody – they’d eat like the jacket pocket to get out the bloody taste of that you see.  And they were comical.  And one of the little buggers, you used to have to take water down then, like a water bottle, and on the top of the bottle you’d got like a cork in the top on it.  And believe me, this is bloody true, that horse, I think it were Dime, it were either Dime or Star, could get his teeth round that bloody cork, pull it out then get the bottle and cock it up and drink it!  Got to see it to believe it.  But they were brilliant.  And some of the hosses were brill… – some of them you’d got to be careful of, they’d kick you, whatever they could do… they were brilliant.
I was going to say, the idea with the horse was to take it right near the face to help in that and the actual taking of the wagons – was that all mechanised by this time?

Dunna forget, the coal went out on conveyor belts…

On conveyor belts, oh right

The only thing they, the hosses used to and the pit lads, pit pony drivers, was to take stuff in to where they were working. So you couldn’t take your rings or your wooden props on the conveyors, you took them – although they were taken so far in with the man rider system, they stopped at a certain point down the pit and then you had to take them in by hoss then and tub whatever, to where they were working. It were brilliant I tell you.

And those ponies, they never saw the light of day did they?

They only come out at, on the miners’ fortnight, when they had the fortnight break and they used to come out of pit and they come out and they took them over to a field not far from the Rec at what we called ‘Monkey Island’ which is… it’s in Woodville,  and they used to kick and, ooh they used to go round that bloody field like hell.  We used to go up and take them bread and whatever and they had a fortnight up there and then they went back again.
Why were they no longer needed then?

Because mechanisation come in, what we call the pit roads haulage – it was like a machine that you, like it’s a machine like with a wire hoop on it  and these were very portable and they put them in so they could kind of pull the tubs and take the stuff in and they come out and they more less did away with the horses. It’s a shame really.  I say it’s a shame, they were up and down there but they were certainly characters.

Yeh amazing… OK I could go on forever on this but I’m conscious that – this is a big problem about this only doing something for about an hour.  Let’s move now to you working in a different industry, but one that is again about taking stuff out of the ground.  What was your job there?

Let me say that when I first went to Ellistown I went as just an ordinary fitter from the pit and eventually I finished off in management.  But I started off really on the making, what we called the making machines and the grinding plants; cos the clay was coming from the quarry in like lumps, and it come in from different seams of clay and it went into what we called the Grinding House, where you’d got a machine that’d got heavy rollers on that shoved the clay through some perforated plates and that give you like a dust.  It went into some screens and the screens like sized it out and then the good stuff went to the machines for making.  So it were kind of – I were involved with all that.  Course, as a fitter you did everything, from working in clay plant to the making machines, and of course they were semi-automated – totally different environment, I mean they were all American, what were called American Purne & Lacey (?) machines, extruding machines and the handling (?) equipment and it were – I were totally lost for a bit. I mean, they fetched me out of the bloody pit and stick me in that, I mean, it were unbelievable.  It took me a while fert get round it, but it were enjoyable.
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Why were you lost then?

Because the environment were different, you know, you could have a fag if you wanted one, there were a canteen, there were fresh air all the while and from working down there to up there were totally – I never thought I were going to make it at first cos I’d been down the pit them years and got so used to being down there.  It took me a time getting used to that but, yeh, I did, and it continued then, but, course you’d got the kilns and where they used to fire them, you’d got to look after the kilns – you did everything, as a team, and I mean there were a lot of… there were about 35 tradespeople at Woodville in them early days. It were abig concern that were.

How many people worked there then?

I reckon there must have been about 120 at one stage.

And a quarter of you were tradespeople?

Yeh. We all worked on three shifts

Because it was highly automated by this time?

Oh yeh.  I mean in them days we used to have to, what we call,  do ‘standby’ , because there were no night shift. The afternoon shift finished at 7 o’clock at night and then we used to have to cover it then on call out , so if the kiln,… summat happened on the kiln or what they called the ‘driers’, you got called out and had to go and repair it. Course, they used to pay your phone bill then, all for that.  Then you get a call out money like, you know, so it wasn’t all bad news.
How long were they – when they were baked in the kiln, how long were they in there for?

I think they were about 7 or 8 days if I remember rightly.  That’s from going in to coming out.

How many kilns were there?

There were two at Woodville.

But again, if you were called to repair it, you wouldn’t be able to get in it for a long time!

Well no, if you… the kiln itself, I mean, don’t forget, it were a tunnel kiln, so normally on a tunnel kiln you feed your pipes on kiln cars into the kiln and they travel through that kiln a certain speed then they come out t’other end.  So if you had trouble in kiln, like say you had a kiln crash where some of the pipes went over, then that were a major issue, because you had to stop the kiln then: you had to turn the kiln off as regards heat because it were supplied by gas, so you had to turn the gas off, then you had to get it down to a certain temperature before you could go inside.  Cos normally, if you had a kiln crash, in the kilns, your first job was to get temperature down low enough so you can actually go under the kiln – cos  there was like an underground passage under the kiln and you could see the kiln cars – there was no temperature on there cos the kiln cars had got a seal on so it couldna get down, then you had to kind of find out where the crash wor, then you had to kinda pull the cars back by turtle (?) ropes to create a gap where the first car were standing, so you could start work on the crash.  And the crash merely (?) was getting people in the kiln to take them out by hand, to clear the crash to get the kiln back on again. And that were done by the workers really. We had kiln gangs and crash gangs, where they’d, you know, … where you’d get bloody towels and wet them, put them round their heads, put hot suits on, then go inside – they’d rush inside, grab some pipe, bits of pipe, come back out again and you’d do that till your cleared your kiln.
I mean, how often did it happen, how often did these crashes happen?

The worst one, when they built TK2 kiln, that’s the second kiln they had there, unknowing to the company, the people that did the kiln from start, put the bloody kiln rails on metal plates and they, metal , eighth plate metal, on bricks, then with concrete on top.  And we kept having kiln crashes; and in the end we had to clear the kiln out all together, everything, and found out these bricks kept breaking underneath them - and that were happening every, about every fortnight.  It were one hell of a job.  So we had to literally rerail all the bloody kiln, and from then we had no more problems with it as such.  It was – you could hear, when they went over them, bloody Nora!  You could hear it all over the bloody factory.  You know what a crack it were (?) when you’d got a kiln crash.  But, you know, it happened.
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Just a point of interest; when I first went to Ellistown Pipes, or Hepworth, we used to make 5 socket pipe a minute on each machine.  When we finally finished making them pipes on there we were making 19 pipes a minute.  That’s how much we’d increased the technology on making.  So it was – and we supplied them all over – they come from every corner of the world to see that factory working at Woodville.  It were the most highly productive factory in Europe making what we called 4 inch pipe.
But is there still a demand for that now, or has it all been superseded by….?

No, what happened was that technology went further and they made what we called the ‘super sleeve’ pipe, the thin wall pipe, but they made it at Hepworth at Sheffield, that were the main depot for our company and they made them on what we called ‘roller hearth’ kilns and these really were like – it were like an oven really, and the pipes were on a conveyor and they like rolled them through so  there were no crashes… no kilns as such, it were  simple – I think they could make a pipe in  something like 7 hours, it was summat silly.  And so really, buy doing that, it cost me the job at Woodville, cos technology had gone further, so all the work we had done at Woodville were done at Hepworth then on what were called the roller hearth kilns and they still make them on there now.

Where did the actual clay come from? 

Local.  There were a quarry at what they call Donnington Island.  If you go down back of Albert village there’s that new rese… that new water area, well, that’s where the clay used to come out.  It’s called Donnington Island, that’s where it was extracted from, a lot of it there.  There were some more local round there but eventually it all come to Donnington Island, it come from there for making the pipes at Woodville.
And it’s now, as you say, it’s like a giant lake now, isn’t it?  So when did that….  When was it exhausted?

Part of it’s still being done now.  They’re still working part of it.  If you go round onto, what we call going down towards Albert Village you’ll see a sign there saying ‘Hepworth’ and inside there there’s still some clays being done even now.

How many pipe factories are there still in the area?

Well, there’s only Donningtons now down at Blackfordby, course, as I mean to say, Swad’s done now, Hepworths, that’s Wraggs done at Swad, so really round here now there’s only, there’s only that one there now at Donnington.
And because of plastic and so on, is that now being mainly used for people doing repairs – you know, the demand for their stuff, is it for like repairs or what?

No, they’re still making like the fittings.  They don’t make the pipes so much, it’s the fittings that go with the pipes.  And also, cos they’ve shut down Wraggs at Swad and because Wraggs at Swad did all what they called the terracotta ware, as such, that’s now been transferred now to Donningtons where they’ve made like a separate unit for the Swadlincote Wraggs people to work and they’re making the terracotta ware now down at Donningtons.  What happened was, some of the  machines at Swad, at Wraggs at Swad were, well, overhauled at  the  various places where they were made and they’ve been transferred down to Donningtons and they’re making them down there now, so they’s haven’t been moved.  But they’ve gone from small buildings, like separate buildings, to one building down there now.  It’s totally different for them.
You’re associated with Sharps Pottery, which is now like a museum.  What is the big difference, if you look at Sharps, the kind of industry you were working in?  What would be different about it?  It was mechanisation presumably?

I think, yeh, I can only recollect now, relfecvt now on – when I first went to Ellistown Pipes at Woodville there was a railway line in between Ellistown Pipes  and the Albion Works.  Now the Albion Works’d got the old round kilns and they made what they called the salt glaze ware, and I think really, probably Sharps did the same, so I can only reflect on what I saw at the Albion Works.  I can’t remember Sharps working, probably it were there working, but I never saw it as such.  So I canna really comment on that one, not really
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And just in terms of the… kind of the difference in the mentality, you know you were talking about the camaraderie, the comradeship, the closeness and everything and that you really really enjoyed your time in the pit; what’s kind of different about – what’s the characteristic  of working in the pipe industry?

Well, at Woodville it were a lot younger workforce, very few – they were more or less all the same age.  I think down the pit you’d got a lot of old people, that’s the difference.  And also, the conditions down there said you’d got to work together. It wasna bad at Woodville.  I mean, we got on well together but never the same.  It were a bit more like it at Swad, cos the workforce down Swad, the average age when I went down there were about 47.  They were a lot of them had done 40 years service down there, so it were a lot older, but a lot harder though, cos conditions down at Swad, it were like going back a few years down there, because conditions were nowhere near as good as Woodville.  So, it were a bit more, a bit more friendly I think I’d put it.
Was there any rivalry between people who worked in the pipe industry and the mines, you know, so that when you went in there there wasn’t anything of the ‘Oh God he’s the…?

This was rather at the pit (?) , but when we had the departmental matches, we used to have departmental football, cricket, snooker, bowls… then you’d have your areas, all the pits’d go to these competitions – that’s where the rivalry wor at the pits.  I mean, and there was some… each pit had got its own kind of area, place where they all congregated at and ours was down at where the Crematorium is, down….Geary House.  Geary House was Granville Colliery’s like place where we all got together, like a social club place and we all paid money into that and that’s where we played our bowls, our tennis, where we played the indoor competitions like darts and dominoes and whatever and that’s where… we used to go there regular to them, they had dos there and all.  You’d have your parties there – but the departmentals, you’d go out to different parts of  the coalfield with a team.  There might be a team from a certain face down the pit, they’d put a team in for the football, or team for cricket, and then it were how much they could slow down (?) as they could drink after.  It were – all that added to the camaraderie of it really and the closeness of it.  But there was rivalry at the competitions cos you could find out who was going to be the best…. I can’t describe how good it wor down there.
What were people doing when they weren’t down the pit.  I mean, this was like allotments and …?

Allotments and drinking, bowls…

Pigeons were there?

Pigeons, oh God, round here, a lot of pigeons.  Something I never did though were pigeon racing… but birds, fancy birds, canaries, budgies, breeding, but most of it were drinking.  They worked hard, they drunk hard.  But there were never any, any problems as such.  They were problems I suppose at Swad at Rink when the youngsters got together in the early days (laughs)
Relatively though you were well paid were you as miners?

No

You weren’t?

No.  I wasn’t personally.  I mean  I was…I always remember when I got to Granville, I think I were on 51/7d a shift, summat like that and that for normal fitting down the pit.  When you went on to the face with the team of face men you went up to 81pence an hour.  It were a hell of a difference.  No, that’s right 81.  So every 10 weeks on the rota we had to go on to what we called the face with the men, with the miners, and you joined what they called their money, kind of thing.  And that was done to make a separation between face work and ordinary work and whatever, so you wanna well paid duck…. But we enjoyed it.  I mean I left… I think when I left Granville Pit I were on about £19 a week and I went to Ellistown Pipes and I reckon with all the overtime I put in I think I got about £35.  It made me and my 
missus that did, because, the money.  On overtime you could earn the money.  Cos my missus was working in the offices at the time so that…. She worked for Ellistown Pipes and all.
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Physically how – obviously we’re sitting in the middle of a farmer’s field here, that’s been a change.  What other changes really have you seen in the landscape here… because again, with the pits and all this stuff, with that gone, there must have been quite a filthy environment

I mean, I always… we often go down Albert Village, me and my missus might drive through it and we think back how it used to be when the pits were working and the clay were working.  It were a run with muck, it were muck everywhere.  And now you see Albert Village now, it’s the ‘in’ place to live.  They’ve got that lake, they’ve got the National Forest, they’ve got… in another 20 or 30m years time it’s going to be bloody wonderful down there you know.  I think it’s the same as, where we used to go chucking sticks over sandholes, I mean, that’s all National Forest ground now, and lakes and whatever.  They’ve tidied it up but I often think about it, ‘Where’s all the industry gone?  Where are people working now?’  I mean, you’dgot 9 pits around this area; you could change your job every day if you wanted to, so… I keep saying,… there was a piece on papers last year, about, I think,  only 14% of the country’s manufacturing now, I’m thinking, ‘Where’s all our wealth coming from?’  I have difficulty in understanding that.  Whether it’s though more, I don’t know, technology or whatever, I haven’t got a clue, I mean, but round here now it’s all gone hasn’t it; I mean, where you’d got a field you’ve got an estate.  They keep taking them – we’ve got Granville School and they took some of their playing fields now to extend it for building.  I don’t know, it’s… I’m at a loss.  I don’t know where we’re going.  But what they have done now, I mean, I think, I honestly think the National Forest though has certainly made it better for people.  It’s took the muck and dust away and it’s made it respectable.  I only hope people in about 30 or 40 years time realise what it were like and what we’ve done to get it
I was going to say, do you think the people who are living now – you’re aware of the National Forest, but it is the long term isn’t it.  It is something that, you know, you see these little whips of trees and so on  - do you think people are aware of what they’re in, as it were?

I like to think so, but I think of lot of them wouldna bother about it, which is a shame. But I think because we saw all the muck and whatever around the area, I think we can appreciate it.  The people now that are being in their early teens now, wouldn’t appreciate it at all. 

As you say, one of the things – in thirty years time people aren’t going to know… there’s going to be trees everywhere, there’s not going to be slag heaps, there’s not going to be all these chimneys belching out smoke.   Is that going to be… I know it sounds ridiculous,  but is that a shame that there’ll be no way that people will have a vestige of the past?

I think so.  I always think about when I was… where we are now, on me granny’s farm.  There’s no…there’s no photographs as it was.  I couldn’t describe to my kids what it were like here, because when we were young, taking a photograph were a pricey job, so I wish that… you can’t show people as it was, can you?  That’s the problem, and I think it’s a shame really.

Good place to finish, thank you
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